
 
 
 

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 26TH NOVEMBER, 2019 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 2 at 3.30 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 

and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.   

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

 

3. Welsh Public Library Standards Update Report   

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 14 

4. Working Life   

 To consider report of the Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 

15 - 24 

5. Work Programme 2019-20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

25 - 36 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair) 

                     G Lewis (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   J Amos, H R Jones, D Sammon, 

W R Smith and C T Jones 
 
Co-optees:    J Beard and C Payne 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Welsh National Library Standards Update 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 On 2nd July 2019; a report and accompanying documents were brought before the 

Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services scrutiny 
committee for review and approval prior to its submission to Welsh Government for 
review.  The responsibility for Library services remains with the Local Authority under 
the 1964 Libraries and Museums Act.   

 
1.2 At this meeting, Committee Members gave approval for the documents and 

approved their submission to Welsh Government in line with the required deadlines. 
 
1.3 This report provides the scrutiny committee with the feedback received from Welsh 

Government.  It offers details of Welsh Government’s judgements in relation to the 
core entitlements; quality indicators (with targets); impact measures and quality 
indicators and benchmarks.   

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee receives the information on feedback received from Welsh 

Government. 
 
2.2 That the update report is accepted and Committee Members have an opportunity to 

review and comment on its content. 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written 11th November 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Support/Jane Sellwood 

Service Area Libraries 

Committee Date 26th November 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 On 2nd July, a report was presented to scrutiny on progress made in relation to the 

Welsh Public Library Standards.  The local authority must have a process in place to 
ratify the submission made yearly to Welsh Government. Scrutiny was asked to look 
at the report, challenge any issues identified and ultimately ratify it in its current form 
for submission to Welsh Government in line with the responsibilities held by the 
authority un the 1964 Libraries and Museums Act. 

 
3.2 The Welsh Public Library Standards are the way in which the Minister with 

responsibility for Library Services is able to measure whether an authority is 
complying with its statutory duty. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 When the report was presented to the Committee in July 2019; the officer presenting 

the documentation noted that during the first year of the framework; Merthyr Tydfil 
Library Service met 9 of the 10 targets in full and one in part and all 12 of the core 
entitlements. 
 

4.2 Following receipt of the relevant documentation from the Head of Library Services; 
the Governance, Performance, Change Management and Corporate Services 
scrutiny committee accepted the content and ratified the report. 
 

4.3 Following ratification; the approved report and supporting documentation was 
submitted to Welsh Government in line with the required deadline. 
 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 On receipt of the feedback report from Welsh Government; the Head of Library 

Services is bringing back the findings to the Governance, Performance, Change 
Management and Corporate Services scrutiny committee to ‘close the loop’; and 
offer Committee Members the opportunity to review Welsh Government’s findings in 
relation to the original submission. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 To maintain this performance through the life of the framework. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Ensure all our policies and practices feed into the delivery of the service to maintain 

performance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO NATIONAL WELLBEING GOALS 

8.1 The new framework deals with the national wellbeing goals in the following way: 

A Prosperous Wales 

Development of a skilled and well educated population is a fundamental aspect of public 
libraries activity. Examples of how this is achieved include providing access to a world of 
lifelong learning through relevant book stock and online information, and the provision of 
free IT equipment, broadband and wi-fi, which supports education, small businesses and 
job seeking. Core entitlements 2, 3, 6 and 7, and quality indicators 1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9,12, 13 
and 15 all monitor aspects of public libraries contribution to this goal. 

A Resilient Wales  

Social and economic resilience is supported by encouraging and promoting individual 
personal development, enabling people and society to adapt to changing circumstances. 
Regular consultation with users ensures that the services themselves are resilient and able 
to adapt to changing needs. Two core entitlements are particularly pertinent here, 3 and 11, 
together with quality indicators 4, 11 and 14. Examples of how this is achieved in practice 
include support for greater community involvement in running library services and book 
stock that encourages a more resilient lifestyle with access to IT so people can self-educate 
about the issues. 
 
A Healthier Wales  
Physical and mental wellbeing is a key offer of public libraries, not only by providing 
information on which to base informed choices for the benefit of health in the future but also 
designated collections and schemes such as Book Prescription Wales titles loaned through 
libraries, which directly benefit individuals with health concerns. Relevant core entitlements 
for this goal are 3 and 4: quality indicators 1, 4 and 6 monitor activity. 
 
A More Equal Wales 
Libraries are welcoming, inclusive and offer pro-active outreach and public engagement 
activities in deprived and socially excluded communities. Support for Government initiatives 
such as Universal JobMatch and Universal Credit enable those without IT skills or facilities 
fulfil their potential. Core entitlements 1, 2, 4, 6 and 7 and quality indicators 3, 4, 11, 13 and 
14, all monitor public libraries contribution to this goal. 
 
A Wales of Cohesive Communities 
Libraries offer a safe neutral place within the community which provides opportunities for 
people to connect with each other. The one-stop shop or hub model being developed in 
many areas further connects local communities with the services they need. Other 
examples of support for community involvement through the process of provision of 
information about the local area. Core entitlements 1, 3 and 5 and quality indicators 1, 6, 13 
and 16 monitor aspects of public libraries contribution to this goal. 
 
A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 
With explicit provision in the current framework covering the provision of material in the 
Welsh Language, libraries are well placed to contribute in this area. They promote and 
protect Welsh Culture and language, and encourage participation in the arts and recreation 
through the availability of a good range of stock in Welsh, and a host of cultural events and 
activities. Core entitlements include 2, 3, 6, 8, 9 and 10 and quality indicators 2, 6, 8, 9 and 
10 are particularly relevant here. 

Page 7



A Globally Responsible Wales 
A commitment to make the most efficient use of resources is embodied in the quality 
indicators. MALD works with the British Standards Institute and International Standards 
Organisation in developing and using quality indicators for Libraries that conform to ISO 
11620. Further the borrowing of books is a great recycling tool, reducing the impact on the 
environment. Libraries in Wales work together in book purchasing consortia, digital e-book 
consortia and the All Wales Library Management system. Core entitlement 12 is directly 
related to global good practice, while quality indicators 14 and 15 are related to the balance 
and efficiency of service provision. 
 
 
JANE SELLWOOD 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

WPLS Future 
Direction 
WPLS Case Study 
1 
WPLS Case Study 
2 
WPLS Case Study 
3 
WPLS Narrative 
WPLS Annual 
Return Pro-Forma 
 

20th June 2019  
All documents presented on 2nd July can be 

accessed using the hyperlink below: 
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=329&MId=3215&Ver=4&LLL=0 

 
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 

Page 8

https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=329&MId=3215&Ver=4&LLL=0


Annual Assessment Report 2018/19 1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Welsh Public Library Standards 2017-2020:  
Merthyr Tydfil (Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust) 
 

Annual Assessment Report 2018/19  

This report has been prepared based on information provided in Merthyr Tydfil’s annual 

return, case studies and narrative report submitted to the Museums, Archives and 

Libraries Division of the Welsh Government.  

1 Executive summary  

Merthyr Tydfil continues to meet all of the 12 core entitlements in full. 

Of the 10 quality indicators with targets, Merthyr Tydfil achieved 9 in full, and 1 in part, and 

is one of only four authorities to achieve at this level.  

Library services are delivered by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust on behalf of the Borough 

Council. The service has continued to perform well in 2018/19, recording improved levels 

of use in a number of areas, and high levels of customer satisfaction.  Capacity issues 

have however affected some aspects of provision, notably events and activities 

programmes.  Expenditure on materials has increased in 2018/19, and the service 

continues to meet the stipulated acquisition targets, one of the few authorities to do so.  

Focused investment on Welsh language stock, with appropriate marketing, should also 

impact positively on Welsh issues in 2019/20. Improvement to the resourcing of the 

service has enabled it to consolidate performances, although low staffing levels remain a 

limiting factor.  The continued commitment of the Trust and local authority to supporting 

library services should acknowledge the positive impact for users of sustaining an 

appropriate level of investment in staff, resources and facilities. 

 User surveys (reissued annually) show continued high levels of customer satisfaction, 

and are used to shape service development. 

 Support for health and well-being remains strong with Merthyr Tydfil one of only two 

authorities regularly offering the full range of services under QI 4 across all branches.  

Formal training sessions continue to record the highest level of attendance per capita 

in Wales, although take-up has fallen in 2018/19. 

 Capacity issues have impacted on events / activities programming, with attendance 

levels falling as a result.  Library use in other areas has either been maintained or 

improved, although children’s loans remain among the lowest per capita in Wales. 

 Spending on materials has increased, with a particular focus on investment in Welsh 

language resources; acquisition targets for both QI 9 and QI 10 are met.  

 Overall staffing levels have been maintained, but the service was carrying one 

professional vacancy in 2018/19 which has limited capacity further; in neither case are 

the stipulated target levels met. 

 Total revenue expenditure has recovered somewhat, after a substantial reduction in 

2017/18, although per capita it remains among the lowest in Wales, and this will be a 

factor limiting performances in some areas. 

2 Performance against the standards  

The standards framework comprises of core entitlements, quality indicators with targets, 

quality indicators with benchmarks and impact measures.  Section 2 summarises 

Page 9



Annual Assessment Report 2018/19 2 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

achievements against these areas.  A narrative assessment of the authority’s performance 

is provided in Section 3. 

2.1 Core entitlements 

Merthyr Tydfil continues to meet all of the 12 core entitlements in full, reaching out to all 

sections of the community.  Library services are tailored to local needs, using social and 

demographic information, and annual survey consultations, to shape the service offer.  

Local links and partnerships remain central to the promotion and delivery of these 

services, as is cross-working within the Trust, through marketing work, and the opportunity 

to reach more people using other Trust facilities. 

2.2 Quality indicators with targets 

There are 16 quality indicators (QIs), of which ten have constituent targets.  Of these, 

Merthyr Tydfil is achieving 9 in full, and one in part. 

Quality Indicator Met?  

QI 3 Support for individual development:  Met in full 

a)     ICT support   

b)     Information literacy and skills training   

c)     E-government support   

d)     Reader development   

QI  4 (a) Support for health and well-being  Met in full 

i) Book Prescription Wales scheme   

ii) Better with Books scheme   

iii) Designated health & well-being collection   

iv) Information about healthy lifestyles and 
behaviours 

  

v) Signposting to health & well-being services   

QI 6 all static service points offer events/activities for 
users with special requirements 

 Met in full 

QI 7 Location of service points  Met in full 

QI 9 Up-to-date and appropriate reading material  Met in full 

Acquisitions per capita   

or Materials spend per capita x  

QI 10 Welsh Language Resources  Met in full 

% of material budget spent on Welsh   

or Spend on Welsh per capita   

QI 11 Online access:  Met in full 

a) i)     Public access to Internet   

    ii)     Wi-Fi provision   

QI 12 Supply of requests  Met in full 

a)     % of requests satisfied within 7 days   

b)     % of requests satisfied within 15 days   

QI 13 Staffing levels and qualifications:  Partially met 

i)     Staff per capita x  

ii)     Qualified staff per capita x  

iii)     Head of service qualification/training   

Page 10



Annual Assessment Report 2018/19 3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

iv)     CPD percentage   

QI 16 Opening hours per capita  Met in full 

There has been a slight improvement to Merthyr Tydfil’s performance in 2018/19 with the 

service meeting both the acquisition targets for QI 10.  

2.3 Impact measures 

The framework includes three indicators aimed at assessing the impact of library use on 

people’s lives.  These indicators do not have targets, and authorities are only required to 

carry out user surveys for QI 1 once over the three-year period of the framework.  The 

summary figures (lowest, median and highest) are therefore based on those authorities 

indicating they completed their user survey during 2017/18 or 2018/19.  Rankings reflect 

the numbers of respondents, where 1 is the highest scoring authority.  

Merthyr Tydfil undertakes user surveys of both adults and children once each year; figures 

are therefore updated annually. 

Performance indicator  Rank Lowest Median Highest 

QI 1 Making a difference      

b) % of young people who think that the library helps 

them learn and find things out:  
95% =5/13 60% 94% 97% 

e) % of adults who think that the library has made a 

difference to their lives: 
94% 3/15 38% 88% 95% 

QI 5 b) % of attendees of training sessions who said that 

the training had helped them achieve their goals: 
97% =10/20 80% 97% 100% 

 

Authorities are also asked to provide up to four case studies describing the impact which 

the library service has had on an individual or on a group of individuals during the year.   

Merthyr Tydfil provided three such case studies, although greater evidence of the impact 

on participants would have strengthened coverage, and helped inform next steps: 

 International Women’s Day – an event at the Central Library aimed at empowering 

young women, by celebrating the achievements of women in Merthyr Tydfil, as role 

models.  A series of talks / presentations preceded the unveiling of a purple plaque to 

the feminist historian Ursula Masson.  Attendees found the day ‘inspirational’. 

 Trevithick Day – a joint project to use the annual Trevithick Day commemoration to 

promote local heritage and civic pride, and through a writing competition for local 

schools support the development of written and communication skills.  The competition 

was promoted through a series of free workshops with schools, with over 120 children 

participating.  A film of the prize winner’s event, which featured readings of the winning 

stories by a well-known local actor, was made and released on Facebook. 

 Earth Hour – the library service organised a Family Fun Day, working with partner 

organisations, to inform and inspire people of all ages to make lifestyle changes to 

improve the environment.  A range of outdoor activities were offered, using books / 

artefacts to develop new knowledge and skills.  In advance of the Day itself ‘Planet 

Pledge’ session were also held with local community groups.  Over 300 people 

attended the Fun Day and took part in activities. 

2.4 Quality indicators and benchmarks 

The remaining indicators do not have targets, but allow services to monitor and benchmark 

their performance over time, in comparison with other authorities.  The following table 

summarises Merthyr Tydfil’s position for 2018/19.  Ranks are included out of 22, where 1 

Page 11



Annual Assessment Report 2018/19 4 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

is the highest, and 22 the lowest scoring authority, unless stated otherwise.  Indicators 

where fewer than 22 authorities supplied data are those where relevant data was not 

available to some authorities.  Figures from the first year of the sixth framework or relevant 

previous surveys have also been included for comparison.  Indicators ‘per capita’ are 

calculated per 1,000 population unless otherwise noted. 

Performance indicator  Rank Lowest Median Highest 2017/18 

QI 1 Making a difference 
 

      

a) % of adults who think that using the 
library has helped them develop new skills 

94% 2 /15 24% 82% 96% 94% 

c) health and well-being 88% 2 /15 33% 62% 94% 88% 

d) enjoyable, safe and inclusive 100% 1 /15 90% 97% 100% 100% 

QI 2 Customer satisfaction        

a) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ choice of books 98% 1 /14 81% 91% 98% 98% 

b) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ customer care 100% =1 /14 93% 99% 100% 100% 

c) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ IT facilities 94% 2 /13 65% 91% 95% 94% 

d) ‘very good’ or ‘good’ overall 99% =1 /14 93% 97% 99% 99% 

e) users aged 16 & under rating out of ten 9.0 =11 /13 8.5 9.3 9.5 9.0 

QI 5 User training        

a) attendances per capita 208 1 /22 13 30 208 238 

c) informal training per capita 366 3 /22 15 199 433 329 

QI 6 attendances at events per capita 250 14 /22 91 295 689 288 

QI 8 Library use1        

a) visits per capita 3,820 13 /22 2,596 3,969 7,170 3,825 

b) virtual visits per capita 948 10 /22 345 885 2,205 865 

c) active borrowers per capita 149 12 /22 58 150 251 148 

QI 10 Welsh issues per capita2 417 17 /22 95 602 1,424 379 

QI 11 Online access        

b) Computers per capita3 10 9 /22 5 10 14 10 

c) % of available time used by the public 63% 1 /22 14% 25% 63% 62% 

QI 13 Staffing levels and qualifications        

(v) a) total volunteers 46 7 /21 3 30 214 51 

b) total volunteer hours 632 19 /21 90 1,477 9,806 800 

QI 14 Operational expenditure        

a) total expenditure per capita £8,820 21 /22 £7,181 £12,145 £19,449 £7,799 

b) % on staff, 52% 18 /22 47% 62% 78% 63% 

% on information resources 20% 3 /22 8% 13% 21% 20% 

% on equipment and buildings 3% 13 /22 0.4% 4% 25% 5% 

% on other operational costs 25% 7 /22 0.3% 16% 37% 13% 

c) capital expenditure per capita £0 =17 /22 £0 £467 £8,829 £0 

QI 15 Net cost per visit £1.18 22 /22 £1.18 £1.82 £2.52 £1.29 

QI 16 Opening hours4        
(iii) a) % hours unplanned closure of static 
service points 

0.00% =1 /22 0.00% 0.00% 0.25% 0.00% 

b) % mobile stops / home deliveries 
missed 

0.00% =1 /20 0.00% 0.28% 7.99% 0.00% 

1 figures for co-located services are marked with an asterisk; performances for these services are likely to reflect higher footfall, and 

will not therefore be directly comparable with stand-alone library provision   2 per 1,000 Welsh speaking resident population; figures 

from 2017/18 reports corrected following a calculation error    3 per 10,000 resident population  
4 Rankings here have been reversed, so that 1 is the lowest scoring (best performing) authority. 

Page 12



Annual Assessment Report 2018/19 5 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

3 Analysis of performance 

The core entitlements and quality indicators can be divided into four key areas.  This 

section of the report outlines performance under these areas, and compares this 

performance with the first year of the sixth framework (2017/18). 

3.1 Meeting customer needs (QI 1-5) 

Merthyr Tydfil refreshed its user surveys (adult and children) in March 2019 as part of its 

annual cycle of survey consultations, with high performances sustained in all areas.  All 

static libraries continue to provide a full range of support for individual development, and 

good support for health and well-being, with Merthyr Tydfil now one of only two authorities 

providing the full range of identified services and activities across all its service points.  

Attendance at formal training has fallen again in 2017/18, but remains the highest per 

capita in Wales.  Numbers helped by means of informal training have however risen with 

an increased demand for informal support alongside access to infrastructure to navigate a 

widening range of online services. 

3.2 Access and use (QI 6-8) 

Merthyr Tydfil continues to meet the target for easy access to service points, and offers 

events / activities for users with special requirements at all static libraries.  Overall 

attendance in this area has continued to fall in 2018/19, with capacity issues impacting on 

the number of events held; performance is still above the median level however, and the 

service notes that a high number of its events and activities are oversubscribed.  Library 

use in other areas has either been maintained or improved, with adult book issues now 

above the median level, although children’s loans remain among the lowest in Wales.  

3.3 Facilities and services (QI 9-12)i 

Spending on acquisitions has increased in 2018/19, following a reduction in 2017/18, and 

Merthyr is now one of only five authorities meeting the requirements for QI 9.  The service 

has also improved its expenditure on Welsh language materials (targeting spending here 

after a heavy investment in children’s stock in 2017/18), and now meets both expenditure 

targets for QI 10, although Welsh issues per capita remain among the lowest in Wales.  It 

is noted that the investment here came late in the year, and that the improvement in stock, 

with appropriate marketing, will hopefully see a positive impact on issues in 2019/20.  PC 

provision has been maintained, and usage has again increased, with the service now 

recording the highest usage levels in Wales.  The value of IT services to communities 

where other public services have been cut, especially with the growing pressure to access 

services digitally, is a noted factor at work here.  Performance in relation to supply of 

requests has fallen again, but both targets are still achieved. 

3.4 Expertise and capacity (QI 13-16) 

Overall staffing levels have been maintained, although with the service carrying a vacancy 

for a qualified librarian, there has been a drop in the number of professional staff in this 

reporting year.  While recruitment to this post should see professional staff levels recover, 

the service would still not meet either of the staffing targets, and it is noted that there is no 

likelihood of increases in staff numbers, nor plans to effect reductions.  Qualified 

leadership is in place, and the service is meeting the requirements for staff training / 

professional development at an improved level.  The number of volunteers has reduced 

Page 13



Annual Assessment Report 2018/19 6 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

slightly in 2018/19, with 46 volunteers each contributing around 14 hours to the service.  It 

is noted that the vacant post, and generally low levels of staffing, have resulted in less 

capacity to actively work with, recruit and train volunteers.   

Total revenue expenditure has recovered somewhat, after a substantial reduction in 

2017/18, although per capita it remains among the lowest in Wales. Aggregate annual 

opening hours have been maintained, with an emphasis on ensuring equality of access 

across all service points, and there were no unplanned closures or interruptions to service. 

4 Strategic context  

As part of the return authorities are asked to report on how the library service is 

contributing to wider Welsh Government priorities and strategic goals.  As in 2017/18 the 

service reports on its contribution to the priority outcomes of Merthyr Tydfil’s Local Well-

being plan, which itself contributes to the wider Well-being Goals for Wales.  While a full 

range of activities and contributions are highlighted, some further reflection within the 

commentary on how specific developments and delivery in 2018/19 supported these areas 

would have been appropriate. 

5 Future direction 

Reporting on the authority’s future direction and plans for the library service over the 

following year, Merthyr Tydfil notes the continuing constraints of staffing levels and 

budgets, but with a commitment from the Trust and local authority to continue to support 

and develop the library service.  The main focus of activity for the next year is noted as a 

refocusing of delivery plans and strategy to more clearly embed Ways of Working and 

Well-being goals into service delivery, working with partners to demonstrate the value of 

the service for social prescribing in particular. Ongoing initiatives include the delivery of a 

school-based community library, run by volunteers but supported by staff and stock from 

the main library service, which it is hoped will become fully operational within the year.  

Cross-sector work, to support developments around the heritage and local history of the 

area, and in promoting reading and children’s services is also referenced. 

6 Conclusion 

Library services are delivered by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust on behalf of the Borough 

Council. The service has continued to perform well in 2018/19, recording improved levels 

of use in a number of areas, and high levels of customer satisfaction.  Capacity issues 

have however affected some aspects of provision, notably events and activities 

programmes.  Expenditure on materials has increased in 2018/19, and the service 

continues to meet the stipulated acquisition targets, one of the few authorities to do so.  

Focused investment on Welsh language stock, with appropriate marketing, should also 

impact positively on Welsh issues in 2019/20. Improvement to the resourcing of the 

service has enabled it to consolidate performances, although low staffing levels remain a 

limiting factor.  The continued commitment of the Trust and local authority to supporting 

library services should acknowledge the positive impact for users of sustaining an 

appropriate level of investment in staff, resources and facilities. 

                                                           
i E-resources purchased through centrally-funded subscriptions have been excluded from acquisitions figures for QI 9 
in 2018/19 to ensure that the standard accurately reflects individual authority strategy, investment and performance.  
In some cases this has impacted on achievement against the standard in comparison with 2017/18.  CIPFA Statistics 
Returns continue to include figures for centrally-procured resources. 

Page 14



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Working Life / Bywyd Gwaith  
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1  We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, and how we 

intend to achieve these objectives is set out in our plan ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in 
our Community’.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing theme Working Life. 

 
1.2 The Council is committed to supporting people to live in safe well-connected communities 

where the developing infrastructure sustaining and improving both the built and natural 
environment; and where heritage, language and culture are valued and strengthened for 
future generations.  The Council also seeks to support people to develop skills and gain 
relevant qualifications to secure employment and to meet the changing needs of employers. 

 
1.3 Using the most recent performance information, this report establishes the current position 

for the wellbeing objective: People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the  
           needs of businesses, with a developing and safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an 

attractive destination.    
 
1.4 An annual review during 2018/19 highlighted the need to further refine and refresh the key 

outcomes.  This ensures that the outcomes clearly describe what the Working Life objective 
seeks to achieve.  Therefore, for 2019/20 it was decided to refocus the outcomes to support 
a more integrated/collaborative approach being taken to meet these.  The key long term 
outcomes for Working Life are: 

  
   Merthyr Tydfil realises its economic potential, with a skilled workforce and better 

employment opportunities; 

   We value and enjoy our built and natural environment, protecting and enhancing our 
heritage and cultural assets for current and future generations; and 

   We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others. 

 
 
 

Date Written 19th November 2019 

Report Author Chris Long / Deb Ryan-Newton 

Service Area Community Regeneration, Public 
Protection & Housing 

Committee Date 26th November 2019 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 
1.5 The report also includes information requested by Committee Members focusing on post-16 

provision and demonstrates how this links with Cwm Taf Public Services Board.  
Additionally, an overview of progress made on apprenticeships and partnership working has 
been included as per member requests. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1  The content of this report to be discussed and performance information scrutinised  
 

2.2  Scrutiny Committee Members offer any appropriate feedback to enable officers to consider  
               when undertaking future service planning and delivery discussions. 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

Legislative Context 

3.1  The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to     

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by maximising 

our contribution to the seven Wellbeing Goals.   
 

3.2  We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which means that 
we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There are five ways 
of working that we need to do adopt in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five ways of working are: 

 

 Long Term  Prevention  Integrated 

 Collaboration  Involvement  

 
3.3 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to improve 

the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support and for 
transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters to the person 
and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those things, which is 
determined by an assessment that involves the person and the professional(s). 

 
           Strategic Context and Service Delivery  
 
          The Council is committed to delivering excellent services. It will do this by delivering its key 

strategies and through joint working with a range of partners. The key strategies that focus 
on delivering excellent services in Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing 
are: 

 Economic Growth Strategy (pending final approval); 

 Tackling Poverty Strategy (pending approval); 

 Taf Bargoed Strategy (currently under development); 

 Destination Management Plan (currently being refocused); 

 Heritage Strategy (draft – currently under development); 

 Active Merthyr Plan; 

 The Active Travel Plan; 

 MTCBC Homelessness Strategy; 

 Cwm Taf Community Safety Plan;  

 Workforce Development Plan; and 

 The Local Development Plan 2016-2023. 
Page 16

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents


 
A number of further strategic documents and plans are under development over the coming 
months; these include: 
 

 The Town Centre Master Plan; 

 The Crucible Master Plan; and 

 The Social Enterprise Strategy. 
 
The department works collaboratively with other departments both within the Council, with 
external partners via the Public Service Board (PSB) and the Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB); with other local authorities on regional projects such as Cardiff and the Capital City 
Deal; as well as with multiple partner organisations across both the third and private sectors. 

 
3.4 The Council’s contribution to achieving the seven wellbeing goals is outlined in our plan     

[Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community].  On the 4th April 2018, Full Council 

approved a revised version of the Plan, which reduced the number of wellbeing objectives 

from 9 to 4. The new objectives can be found in Appendix 1. 

3.5  The Chief Officer for Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing reports on the 

wellbeing theme Working Life.  The purpose of this report is to coordinate the performance 

information for this wellbeing objective and offer insights in the change of working practice 

linked to the wellbeing objective: People feel supported to develop the skills required to 

meet the needs of businesses; with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr 

Tydfil an attractive destination.   

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  At the end of 2017/18 the Council published its Annual Performance Report, which evaluated 

performance across all 9 wellbeing objectives at the end of year 1 of the corporate wellbeing 
plan Focus on the Future. 
 

4.2  The Chief Officer for Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing team has the 
lead for Working Life, which at that time had two wellbeing objectives; these were: 
 

WL1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;  
           and  
WL2:  Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish. 

 

4.3  Our evaluation of performance in 2017 was Adequate.  The rationale for this judgment 
reflected the positive outcomes were achieved (e.g.) both employment levels and business 
births were above the Welsh average, whilst progress continues to link targeted employment 
opportunities for economically inactive residents, further developing the local workforce.  
Additionally, the proportion of young people who are categorised as NEET (not in education, 
employment or training) was been sustained as for 2017/18; Merthyr Tydfil had the joint 
lowest level of NEETs in Wales.   
 

4.4  There were issues identified where improvement needed to be made (e.g.) the gross weekly 
pay for full-time workers in Merthyr Tydfil remains below the Welsh average; the direct impact 
the Council has had on the overall post-16 education qualifications was limited because of 
the numbers of people engaged with etc.  Plans are under development to make 
improvements where required.  Other affecting factors beyond the Council’s control which 
would impact on progress being made were also considered (e.g.) governmental changes, 
the impact of Brexit etc.  
 Page 17

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf


5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Following a review of year 1 of Focus on the Future, the 9 wellbeing objectives were reduced 

to 4.  The re-focused themes and objective can be found in Appendix 1.   
 

5.2 The ‘Working Life’ working group continues to meet to collaboratively plan how key tasks and 
activities will be tackled.  This group is made up of officers across a number of service areas 
across the Council both within the Chief Officers directorate and includes officers from other 
services areas.  This group also provides a platform for planning discussions, officer led 
constructive challenge around activities delivered, targets set whilst also opening the doorway 
to exploring new opportunities, joint working relationships and making more meaningful 
service connections and evidence shows this change in working practice is already proving 
to be a catalyst for new joint working opportunities being developed. 
 

5.3 The Working Life Strategy on a Page (SOAP) contains performance data for the selected 
local performance indicators over time (where available) to offer an opportunity to identify 
trends.  The Working Life SOAP is attached as Appendix 2. 

 
5.4  The Annual Performance Report (APR) 2018/19 was recently presented at Full Council; this 

provided an overview of the key corporate performance indicators.  The judgement allocated 
for 2018/19 was Adequate; this judgment relates to the impact of the Council’s 
services/activities (the effect); rather than the effort put in to achieving impact (which we 
would judge as good).   

 
5.5 We have included the data as it appears in the Annual Performance Report in Table 1 (below), 

along with the reported data from the previous year for context.  We had updated the table to 
show whether the indicator is national or local; this amendment aims to provide greater clarity 
on where the work undertaken by MTCBC contributes to the national position; or where the 
outcomes achieved are as result of MTCBC’s activity only (i.e.) MTCBC controls the 
project/programme.   

Table 1 
 

Type of 
Indicator 

Key Performance Indicators 2017/18 2018/19 

National % of working age population in employment (Year ending 
March 2018) 
 

74% 72.2% 

National % of working age population who are qualified to NVQ level 2 
and above 
 

66.2% 57.4% 

National % of population with no qualification  
 

16.4% 14.1% 

National % of 16-18 year olds not in education, employment or training 
 

1.3% 1.1% 

National Number of business births 
 

255 220 

National Number of business deaths 
 

165 190 

Local % of participants in employment upon leaving the EU funded 
programmes  

12.8% 23% 

Local % of participants who gain a qualification on completion of an  
‘out of work’ training programme  

28.4% 22% 

Local % of participants who gain a qualification on completion of an 
‘in work’ training programme 

81.9% 87% 

 

Page 18



5.5 To complement the “Working Life’ working group, which focuses on departmental operational 
issues, there has been an exercise to refocus the membership and reporting structure of the 
Strategic Economic Regeneration and Tourism Board.  This Board has now evolved into the 
Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing Board which focuses on strategic 
developments and encourages and promotes linkages between departments.  

 
5.6 The Welsh Audit Office initiated an examination process in November 2018 where together 

with our strategic partners; we were required to offer evidence how we use the five ways of 
working. This exercise focused on the component ‘Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: 
developing the workforce of the future’.  This examination visit was seen as an opportunity to 
showcase the maturity of the partnership and more specifically the role of MTCBC in its direct 
co-ordination of learning / training / employment for local people.   The Council has recently 
received the final report from WAO.  This was presented to Members of the Regeneration & 
Public Protection scrutiny committee on 22 October 2019. 
 

6.0 RESPONSE TO INFORMATION REQUEST OUTLINED BY THE COMMITTEE 
 
6.1 The Committee outlined in its Work Programme a requirement for officers to provide specific 

information on “post-16 provision; how this links with Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB); 
and offer details of progress made in relation to apprenticeships and partnership working”.  
This section of the report will offer Committee Members an overview of the key developments 
in respect these areas. 

 
6.2 On establishment of the Public Service Board’s Wellbeing Plan in 2018; the Chief Officer of 

Community Regeneration, Public Protection & Housing was requested to become the 
operational lead for the ‘Strong Economy’ theme within this Plan.  In this capacity; the Chief 
Officer was required to report directly to both the PSB and Strategic Partnership Board (SPB). 

 
6.3 On taking up this role; it was agreed that a key focus would be connecting the workforce 

development work with the ongoing tourism development.  Through the workforce 
development strand, the introduction of the Employability Pledge became a key focus.  
This pledge covers joining forces to provide local people with more opportunities in the 
world of work and key themes: 

 
o Apprenticeships; 
o Work Experience Placements; 
o Employability Programmes; 
o Volunteering opportunities; and  
o Working with Schools, colleges and universities. 

 
The Employability Pledge was signed off by PSB members at their last meeting.  It is planned 
that the Pledge will be formally launched at the next scheduled PSB meeting; though this 
launch is still subject to confirmation from a number of key stakeholders.  Following this 
launch, a series of meetings will be scheduled to establish ‘fit for purpose’ development 
to scope out the individual intentions of each organisation in relation to the five key focuses 
listed above.  The main reason for this is to ensure development is practical and that its real 
development and not something we are doing anyway.   

 
6.4 In relation specifically to Merthyr Tydfil; the following updates are provided: 
  

Apprenticeships The Aspire Shared Apprenticeship programme is in the 
third year of delivery.  This focuses on private sector 
development focusing on advanced manufacturing and 
engineering which forms the basis to learn internally on 
apprenticeships.  A recent celebratory event took place to Page 19



mark the third year of the programme; with a video 
outlining some of the outcomes achieved during this 
period. 
 
Positive steps are being taken to develop a paper that will 
make a pitch to Welsh Government to advocate for a 
Tourism Shared Apprenticeship Programme which we plan 
link with the PSB’s Strong Economy theme.  The paper will 
include recent information presented at the destination 
management day.   
 
As part of the ongoing development, we are:  
 

 linking in with colleagues in Social Services and 
building on links with RCT Council’s Children Looked 
After (CLA) team to explore opportunities to secure 
agreement to recruit a person using Intermediate Care 
Funding (ICF) until March 2021.  If this opportunity as 
realised, this officer will be located directly within the 
Employability Team and would work with an existing 
CLA Employability Mentoring and Support Officer to 
make internal connections and work with work based 
learning providers to secure opportunities such as 
traineeships, apprenticeships, work experience and 
volunteering opportunities.   

 meeting to hold initial discussions with Councillor Lisa 
Mytton at her request regarding an additional resource 
to support the development of apprenticeships.  Again, 
if realised, this resource would sit within the 
Employability Team.   

Work Experience 
Placements 

 A DRAFT policy has been developed around the 
required process to oversee work experience 
opportunities.  This has been passed to Human 
Resources for review.  

Employability Programmes  The Employability Programmes continue to develop 
bespoke approaches to support recruitment and new 
inward investors (a recent example of this would be 
Morgan Sindall).   

 We are looking at developing a new approach to the 
promotion of self-employment as an option – this is 
very new.  This approach connects to some 
collaborative work currently underway with colleagues 
in the Early Years and Childcare department focusing 
on the development, training etc. of childminding as a 
career path.  This would actively aim to address an 
identified shortfall in affordable, accessible and quality 
childcare across the County Borough. 

Working with Schools, 
colleges and universities 

 Strong links have been established with some schools 
to date.   

 In the summer, the employability team hosted a pilot 
‘have a go’ day to allow Penydre Year 8 pupils to 
interact with sector specific equipment which 
introduced them to different sectors.  They also had the 
opportunity to take part in activities associated to Page 20



Manufacturing and Production with the support from 
staff from Tennaco Walker.  The event was held in 
Merthyr Tydfil College, which allowed pupils to have a 
fully guided tour of the facility to encourage thoughts on 
future areas of learning that they might be interested in. 

 Working with Morgan Sindall, the current developer of 
the Merthyr Bus Station we have agreed to host a ‘have 
a go’ day with Caedraw and St Marys schools.  This will 
take place very early in the new year.   

 Morgan Sindall have been introduced to Merthyr Tydfil 
College.  A range of activities have been identified to 
explore and is really encouraging for future interaction. 

 Members of the Employability Team have been invited 
to all future deputy head meetings which are hosted and 
held at Merthyr Tydfil College. 

 
 

7.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
7.1 By 2022, our ambition is for: 

 

 MTCBC to improve the pace of change/recovery in relation to the local economy, 
recognising that this cannot be achieved without the support and participation of key 
partners and businesses.  

 To develop Merthyr’s extended landscape and built heritage into an international quality 
visitor destination and experience.  

 To have developed a well-connected Economic Growth partnership where information 
and outcomes are jointly owned and shared.  By achieving this goal, we aim to maximise 
the positive connections to produce positive results. 

 To develop the Town Centre as a Strategic Hub as part of the Cardiff City Region Metro 
focusing on transport infrastructure, physical regeneration and place-making.  

 

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
8.1  Further develop the Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing Board ensuring 

departmental connectivity is at the forefront of its development  
 

8.2 Conclude the staged development of the strategic documents and plans over the coming 
months including the Town Centre Masterplan and the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan.  

 
8.3 Following two successful workshop sessions; we will further develop the Economic Growth 

Partnership ensuring partnership ownership and engagement.   
 
8.4 Further consider feedback received from WAO following their examination visit and refocus 

the draft Action Plan which has been developed to respond to suggested areas for 
development to ensure this can be actioned. 

 

9.0    CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES/WELLBEING GOALS 

 
9.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 

objective: 
 Page 21



 Best Start to Life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with 
the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 

 

9.2 The planned next steps for Focus on the Future and Tackling Poverty will ensure that the 
activities of the Learning Department will more robustly impact on the wellbeing objective: 

 

 Best Start to Life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with 
the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

Living Well: People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  

 
9.3 With regards to the Council’s contribution to the national wellbeing goals; this has been 

captured via a series of case studies which can be found in the Annual Performance Report 
2018-19 which was recently published in line with the statutory deadline. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION, PUBLIC PROTECTION 
& HOUSING 

 
 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION  

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

   

   

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
  

Page 22



Appendix 1 
 
 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan Focus on the Future:  

Confirmed themes and wellbeing objectives for 2018/19 
 
 
 

Theme Wellbeing Objective 

Best Start 
Children and young people have the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners 
and confident individuals. 

Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet 
the needs of businesses, with a developing safe 
infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination 

Environmental 
Wellbeing 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment 
and countryside 

Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical 
and mental health. 

Page 23



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

    Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Target 

Participants who are in employment after leaving a programme     81 100 241 198 210 84 13 16 

Participants who gain a qualification at the end of an ‘out of work’ programme     119 119 212 166 34 85 48 49 

Participants who gain a qualification at the end of an ‘in work’ programme     185 281 184 241 171 110 176 168 

Number of buildings developed as part of the business start-up project 
    3 4 4 4 3 

0 
4 4 

Percentage of inward investment enquiries which become active businesses     5 5 5 8 5 1 5 5 

Number of social enterprises where growth/development opportunities are identified 
    50% 66% 50% 60% 50% 

0% 
50% 50% 

Number of visits to the 5 key attractions within Merthyr Tydfil       618,000 825,501 636,540 495,130 655,636 675,305 

Restore 9 buildings within the Pontmorlais Heritage Area       3 0 3 0 3 N/A 

Number of community enterprises supported in asset transfer opportunities     2 3 2 2 3 0 3 3 

Percentage of people feeling safe (at home, walking in their local area, and travelling) (data provided by 
South Wales Police)   N/A 63% N/A 

Data not 
available 

N/A 
Data not 
available 

 
 

  

**NEW INDICATOR FOR 2018-19**  

Percentage of ASB perpetrators who re-offend within a 6-month period reaching Stage 2 
        

Establishing  
baseline 

13.6% 
(41/302) 

TBC TBC 

**NEW INDICATOR FOR 2019/20** 

Number of people attending or participating in arts, culture or heritage activities at least 3 times a year 
        

Establishing 
baseline 

Available at year 
end 

TBC TBC 

**NEW INDICATOR FOR 2019-20** 

Value of fraud detected and resolved 
        

Establishing 
baseline 

Available at year 
end 

TBC TBC 

The percentage of those who present as homeless who are relieved of their homelessness 
N/A 

3.6% 
(8/225) 

N/A 
S73 – 178 
S75 – 5* 

N/A 33% 34% 31% 34% 
 

26% 
34% 34% 

Percentage of households threatened with homelessness successfully prevented from becoming 
homeless  (PAM/012) 

N/A 31.5% N/A 61% 60% 53% 60% 57% 61% 
 

36% 
62% 63% 

Percentage of empty private sector properties brought back into use during the year through direct 
action by the local authority (PAM/013) N/A 6.47% N/A 

6.86% 
(40/583) 

N/A 6.6% 3% 7% 6% 
Available at year 

end 6% 6% 

The percentage of food businesses that are broadly compliant with food hygiene 
N/A 93.38% N/A 93.49% N/A 92.46% 93.11% 93% 93.02% 

Available at year 
end 92.86% 92.96% 

 

Working Life 
CHIEF OFFICER:  COMMUNITY REGENERATION 
Contributions From: 
Employability  Business Support/Development 
Physical Regeneration  Destination Development 
Heritage & Culture  Trading Standards 
Licensing   Transport 
Housing   Environmental Health 
EU & External Funding  

People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses with a developing, safe infrastructure 

making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination 

How will Merthyr Tydfil CBC work? 

Merthyr Tydfil realises its potential with 
a skilled workforce and better 

employment opportunities 
We value and enjoy our built and natural 

environment, protecting and enhancing our 
heritage and cultural assets for current and 

future generations 

We have strong, resilient and supportive 
communities where people take 

responsibility for their own actions and 
how they affect others 

Appendix 2 

P
age 24



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Work Programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 19th November  2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 26th November 2019 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 26



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 27



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 28



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 30



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
  Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

21st May 2019 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Cllr Tanya Skinner (Chair) 

and Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and to officially agree 

and sign off the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

 

Tackling Poverty Strategy 
and Action Plan 

Sue Walker/Alyn 
Owen/Lisa Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following presentation of a report at the 
Governance Scrutiny meeting of 26th February 2019; Committee Members 
stated they required more details and wanted sight of the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy document  

2nd July 2019 

Draft Annual Governance 
Statement 
 

Gary Evans (Shared Audit 
Service) / Steve Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- To provide Committee Members the opportunity to 
review the  Draft Annual Governance Statement document and to 
constructively challenge its contents/findings prior to its’ presentation to 
Full Council. 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan: 
Living Well Theme 
 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 10th July 2018, 
Committee Members requested the Living Well theme within the Corporate 
Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny. 

3rd September 
2019 

Human Resources Cllr Andrew Barry / Fran 
Donnelly 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- WAO Report – Following on from the Improvement 
Assessment 2015-16: Review of the Council’s Human Resources Function a 
report is requested from colleagues in HR to review the status of the 
following:  
* Single points of dependency across the Authority and the risk this poses;  
* Corporate sickness absence statistics over the last 3 years with a specific    
   focus on stress-related sickness absence;  
* A quarterly report on agency staff employed by the Council, including  
   financial details/costs; and 
* The early impact of decisions taken linked to VR and VER. 

Audit Action Plan:  
Recommendations made 
by external regulators 
(WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, WG 
Commissioners etc.).  
 

Shared Audit Service / 
Steve Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Following a report received at the Governance 
Scrutiny Meeting on 9th April 2019; Committee Members requested a 
subsequent report outlining the current position with regards to at Audit 
Action Plan function outlining responses to regulatory recommendations 
received by the Council. 

P
age 31

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

15th October 
2019 

DRAFT Annual 
Performance Report 
 
 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Annual Performance Report is a statutory 
document which the Council MUST to publish to communicate its’ self-
evaluation of delivery against our wellbeing objectives.  The Committee is 
requested to review the draft report and ‘test’ the evaluative judgments 
made by Chief Officers through constructively critical challenge. 

Human Resources Cllr Andrew Barry / Fran 
Donnelly 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- WAO Report – Following on from the Improvement 
Assessment 2015-16: Review of the Council’s Human Resources Function a 
report is requested from colleagues in HR to review the status of the 
following:  
* Single points of dependency across the Authority and the risk this poses;  
* Corporate sickness absence statistics over the last 3 years with a specific    
   focus on stress-related sickness absence;  
* A quarterly report on agency staff employed by the Council, including  
   financial details/costs; and 
* The early impact of decisions taken linked to VR and VER. 

26th November 
2019 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
– Working Life Theme 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / Steve 
Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Working Life theme within the 
Corporate Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus 
on the following element: 
 

“Post-16 provision; how this links with Cwm Taf Public Services Board; and 
details of progress made on apprenticeships and partnership working”. 

Welsh Public Library 
Standards 

Chris Long / John Sellwood Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following approval given by the Governance 
Committee for the documents linked to the Welsh Public Library Returns in 
July 2019; feedback will be received from Library Service officers to provide 
Committee Members with feedback received from Welsh Government; and 
receive an update on the ranking applied to the service. 

P
age 32

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

7th January 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

Change Programme  
 
 
 

Ellis Cooper / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Scrutiny Members to review the ‘post-decision’ 
status of areas originally identified for financial savings and identified 
whether savings have been achieved, the impact of this service 
rationalisation etc. 

Update on Performance – 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / John 
Sellwood 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The report will outline the requirements of 
performance monitoring of the Council’s agreement with Merthyr Tydfil 
Leisure Trust.  Committee Members will receive an update on the current 
position re: performance against targets from the Council’s Contract 
Monitoring Officer. 

Human Resources Update Fran Donnelly Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Following an update received by the Committee in 
October 2019; Committee Members requested the officers return to the 
Committee to offer further updates on the current situation with particular 
reference being made to the following areas: 

 The capability process and how this works; details of the number of 
staff placed on the capability process; and details of any proposals 
to improve this process; 

 A breakdown of where SPODs have been identified and a 
breakdown of the departments where these SPODs occur; 

 Provide details of the impact of VR/VER 

 An update on the progress of work related to work-based stress and 
the Council’s response to this; 

 Accurate information provided to Committee Members on the 
compulsory redundancy process including information on key 
consideration and weightings; and 

 A breakdown of the current situation in relation to agency workers, 
including the number of agency workers that have worked with the 
Council for 10+ years; and an overview of which departments these 
people work. 

Preparation and 
Implications of Brexit 

Cllr Andrew Barry / Andrew 
Mogford / David Smith 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  With the United Kingdom scheduled to leave the 
European Union on 31st January 2020; local councils have been preparing for 
the possible repercussions of various forms of Brexit, ranging from potential 
difficulties with farming and delivering services to concerns about worsening 
community cohesion.  Officers will provide an overview of the Council’s 
preparedness for Brexit and how any risks identified will be managed.   

P
age 33



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  

25th February 
2020 

Wellbeing Objective – Best 
Start to Life 
 
 

Sue Walker / Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: -   At the scrutiny meeting held on 26th February 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Best Start theme within the Corporate 
Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus on 
attainment levels across the County Borough 
 

Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence  

Safer Merthyr Tydfil Scrutiny & Challenge: -  

Members will be offered an overview of Violence Against Women, Domestic 

Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015.  The Committee seeks a 
report outlining the impact of domestic abuse and sexual violence on 
local people.  In relation to sexual violence, the Committee should 
outline the impact of sexual violence on communities (i.e.) STI’s; 
pregnancies; impact on mental health and offer basic detail on the 
support structure available for victims. 

21st April 2020 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
– Environmental 
Wellbeing 
 
 

Cllr David Hughes / Judith 
Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Environmental Wellbeing theme within 
the Corporate Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific 
focus on the following element: 
 

“It has been almost 12 months since new measures were introduced.  
Members want to explore whether there has been any increase of incidents 
of fly-tipping.  Have costs increased?  Does policy require change? (e.g. black 
bin charge; waste transfer note charge etc.)”. 

Statement of Wellbeing 
and Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan: Focus on the Future 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: -  The Council is required to meet its statutory duty of 
refocusing and publishing its Statement of Wellbeing and Corporate 
Wellbeing Plan annually.  Committee Members are required to scrutinise 
both of these documents to review how well the Council is meeting its 
requirements against the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

Corporate Self-Evaluation 
2019-20 
 

Cllr Andrew Barry / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Following the re-introduction of the Corporate Self-
Evaluation Process in May 2019; Committee Members will receive a report 
outlining the key findings of the process on a directorate/service area basis.  
Members will be advised on lessons learned during completion of the self-
evaluation process (e.g.) any areas of good practice or issues or barriers 
identified; and the key priorities for improvement which will be actioned 
over the coming 12 months.  Committee Members will be required to 
review the self-evaluative judgment and seek evidence to support the 
accuracy of this judgment. 

P
age 34



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Additional topics for consideration 

 

Dates as per work 
programme 

Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board: Our Cwm Taf 
Wellbeing Plan 

Over the past 12-month period, the PSB has been raised during the course of the Committee’s discussions 
on a number of occasions; it has been suggested that the Chair of the PSB be invited to attend Governance 
Scrutiny  

Local Authority 
Support to the 
Third Sector 
Services 

Cllr Tanya Skinner/Alyn 
Owen/Chris Long/Ryan 
Barry 

Monitoring & Scrutiny:  This item was originally received as a result of a WAO report. Subsequent to the 
item being discussed at the scrutiny meeting an email was sent to the Chief Executive and the Cabinet 
Portfolio Member. As a result of scrutiny’s involvement a report was submitted to the Governance 
Services Scrutiny Committee meeting on 13th February.  

The impact of 
Council Tax Debt 
Collection Process 
& Universal Credit 
on Tackling 
Poverty  

Andrew Mogford/Mike 
Parry 

 

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Welsh Public Library Standards Update Report
	Appendix 1

	4 Working Life
	5 Work Programme 2019-20
	Appendix 1


